IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

CAMERON JAMES HESS,
Defendant-Appellant.

SUPREME COURT
NO. 21-0079

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE SARAH E. CRANE, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

JOSH IRWIN
Assistant Appellate Defender
jirwin@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us


STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. The district court failed to recognize that it had discretion to suspend the special sentence and sex offender registry requirements.

Authorities

State v. Ayers, 590 N.W.2d at 27 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Wilson, 294 N.W.2d 824, 825 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Formaro, 638 N.W.2d 720, 724 (Iowa 2002)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907 (2019)

Iowa Code § 702.11(1)

Iowa Code § 907.3

State v. Lee, 561 N.W.2d 353, 354 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Moore, 936 N.W.2d 436 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Code § 901.5(13) (2019)

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 144 (Iowa 2017)

A. 903B.1 special sentence

Iowa Code § 903B.1 (2019)

Doss v. State, 961 N.W.2d 701, 710 (Iowa 2021)

State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288, 297 (Iowa 2010)

B. Sex offender registry

In re T.H., 913 N.W.2d 578, 596 (Iowa 2018)

Juvenile, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019)

Iowa Code §§ 232.2(5), 232.2(29)

In re T.H., 913 N.W.2d 578, 596 (Iowa 2018)

Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez, 372 U.S. 144, 168–69 (1963)

Div. of Criminal & Juvenile Justice Planning, Iowa Dep't of Human Rights, *Iowa Sex Offender Research Council Report to the Iowa General Assembly 12* (2013) (available at <https://humanrights.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/media/January%202013%20SORC%20Report.pdf>) (last visited August 26, 2021)

Phoebe Geer, *Justice Served? The High Cost of Juvenile Sex Offender Registration*, 27 Dev. Mental Health L. 34, 42 (2008)

Does #1–5 v. Snyder, 834 F.3d 696, 705 (6th Cir. 2016)

Doe v. State, 189 P.3d 999, 1019 (Alaska 2008)

In re T.B., 2021 CO 59, ¶ 58, 489 P.3d 752, 768–69 (Colo. 2021)

State v. Williams, 2011-Ohio-3374, ¶¶ 16–20, 952 N.E.2d 1108, 1112–13 (Ohio 2011)

Wallace v. State, 905 N.E.2d 371, 384 (Ind. 2009)

Commonwealth v. Baker, 295 S.W.3d 437, 447 (Ky. 2009)

State v. Letalien, 2009 ME 130, ¶ 62, 985 A.2d 4, 26 (Me. 2009)

People v. Betts, --- N.W.2d ----, No. 148981, 2021 WL 3161828, at *15 (Mich. July 27, 2021)

Doe v. State, A.3d 1077, 1100 (N.H. 2015)

Starkey v. Oklahoma Dep't of Corr., 2013 OK 43, ¶ 77, 305 P.3d 1004, 1030 (Okla. 2013)

Klouda v. Sixth Jud. Dist. Dep't of Corr. Servs., 642 N.W.2d 255, 261 (Iowa 2002)

Sentence, Black's Law Dictionary (6th Ed. 1990)

State v. Cole, No. 06-0579, 2007 WL 257856, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 31, 2007)

State v. Richardson, 890 N.W.2d 609, 617 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Code § 692A.103(1)

In re J.D.P., No. 10-0115, 2011 WL 441520, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 9, 2011)

Iowa Code § 901.5

Iowa Code § 692A.102

Iowa Code § 692A.113

Iowa Code § 692A.114(2)

Iowa Code § 692A.111(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.128(2)(a)

II. If this Court concludes the district court had no discretion regarding whether to require Hess to register as a sex offender, that requirement, which imposes a mandatory minimum term of punishment for offenses committed when Hess was a juvenile, constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 17 of the Iowa Constitution.

Authorities

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 870–72 (Iowa 2009)

In re T.H., 913 N.W.2d 578, 596 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 381 (Iowa 2014)

Iowa Code § 692A.103(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.128(2)(a)

Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 477 (2012)

U.S. Const. amd. VIII

Robinson v. California, 370 U.S. 660, 667 (1962)

Iowa Const. Art. I § 17

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 51 (Iowa 2013)

Iowa Code § 692A.106(2)

Iowa Code § 692A.106(5)

Iowa Code § 692A.101(1)(a)

Iowa Code § 692A.108(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.110(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.102(1)(c)

Iowa Code § 692A.108(1)(c)

Iowa Code § 692A.108(2)

Iowa Code § 692A.121(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.121(2)(b)(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.113

Iowa Code § 692A.114(2)

Iowa Code § 692A.111(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.128(2)(a)–(e)

A. Mandatory registration for offenses committed by juveniles is punishment.

In re T.H., 913 N.W.2d 578, 596 (Iowa 2018)

B. Mandatory sex offender registration, with a mandatory minimum term, is cruel and unusual when applied to juveniles.

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 381 (Iowa 2014)

Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 61 (2010)

34 U.S.C. § 20927(a) (2018)

In re C.P., 2012-Ohio-1446, ¶¶ 30–37, 967 N.E.2d 729, 738–39 (Ohio 2012)

Supplemental Guidelines for Sex Offender Registration and Notification, 76 Fed.Reg. 1630, 1636 (Jan. 11, 2011)

National Consortium for Justice Information and Statistics, Survey on State Compliance with the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (SORNA) (2009) p. 2 (available at <https://www.search.org/files/pdf/SORNA-StateComplianceSurvey2009Rev071609.pdf>, last visited August 26, 2021)

In re T.B., 2021 CO 59, ¶ 61, 489 P.3d 752, 769 (Colo. 2021)

Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 477 (2012)

Thompson v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 815, 836–38 (1988)

Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 575 (2005)

Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407, 434 (2008)

Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958)

Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 311 (2002)

Martin Guggenheim, *Graham v. Florida and a Juvenile's Right to Age-Appropriate Sentencing*, 47 Harvard C.R.-C.L. L. Rev. 457, 466–74 (2012)

Donna M. Bishop, *Juvenile Offenders in the Adult Criminal Justice System*, 27 Crime & Just. 81, 84 (2000)

Johnson v. Texas, 509 U.S. 350, 367 (1993)

Thompson v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 815, 836–38 (1988)

Schall v. Martin, 467 U.S. 265–67 (1984)

Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 115–16 (1982)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 870–72 (Iowa 2009)

Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 465 (2012)

State v. Graham, 897 N.W.2d 476, 489 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Seering, 701 N.W.2d 655, 669 (Iowa 2005)

2009 Iowa Acts ch. 119, § 3

Iowa Code § 692A.103 (Supp. 2009)

State v. Pickens, 558 N.W.2d 396, 400 (Iowa 1997)

In re T.H., 913 N.W.2d 578, 596 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Code § 692A.103(3)–(4)

Iowa Code § 232.54(1)(i)

Iowa Code § 232.54(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.128(2)(a)

J.D.B. v. North Carolina, 564 U.S. 261, 272 (2011)

Elizabeth Cauffman et al., *How Developmental Science Influences Juvenile Justice Reform*, 8 U.C. Irvine L. Rev. 21, 23–27 (2018)

Amy E. Halbrook, *Juvenile Pariahs*, 65 Hastings L. J. 1, 8–10 (2013)

Barry C. Feld, *Unmitigated Punishment: Adolescent Criminal Responsibility and LWOP Sentences*, 10 J. L. & Fam. Stud. 11, 45–61 (2007)

Laurence Steinberg & Elizabeth S. Scott, *Less Guilty by Reason of Adolescence: Developmental Immaturity, Diminished Responsibility, and the Juvenile Death Penalty*, 58 Am. Psychologist 1000, 1011–15 (2003)

Elizabeth Cauffman & Laurence Steinberg, *The Cognitive and Affective Influences on Adolescent Decision-Making*, 68 Temp. L. Rev. 1763, 1770–89 (1995)

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 51 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Pearson, 836 N.W.2d 88, 98 (Iowa 2013)

Elizabeth Scott et al., *Juvenile Sentencing Reform in a Constitutional Framework*, 88 Temp. L. Rev. 675, 707 (2016)

Iowa Code § 692A.104

Iowa Code § 692A.105

Iowa Code § 692A.110(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.113

Iowa Code § 692A.114(2)

Iowa Code § 692A.121(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.111(1)

Ewing v. California, 538 U.S. 11, 25 (2003)

State v. Harrison, 914 N.W.2d 178, 201 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Zarate, 908 N.W.2d 831, 847 (Iowa 2018)

In re T.H., 913 N.W.2d 578, 596 (Iowa 2018)

2013 SORC Report at 12

Phoebe Geer, Justice Served? The High Cost of Juvenile Sex Offender Registration, 27 Dev. Mental Health L. 34, 51 (2008)

Elizabeth J. Loterneau et al., *Juvenile Registration and Notification Policy Effects: A Multistate Evaluation Project* 31 (2018) (available at <https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/ojdp/grants/251494.pdf>) (last visited August 26, 2021)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because it asks the Court to hold that the juvenile sentencing discretion provided by Iowa Code section 901.5(13) reaches the otherwise mandatory imposition of the special sentence under Iowa Code section 903B.1 and the sex offender registry requirements of chapter 692A, a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d); 6.1101(2)(c). Alternatively, this case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because it asks the Court to hold that if section 901.5(13) sentencing discretion does not apply to the sex offender registry requirements, the mandatory imposition of those requirements, including a mandatory minimum term during which the registrant cannot request modification thereof, constitutes cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 17 of the Iowa Constitution, raising a substantial constitutional question as to the validity of a statute as well as a fundamental issue of broad public

importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(d)(d); 6.1101(2)(a) and (d).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

The Defendant-Appellant, Cameron James Hess, appeals from his sentence for four counts of sexual abuse in the second degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.1(1) (2015–2017), 709.1(3) (2015–2017), and 709.3(2) (2015–2017).¹

Course of Proceedings

On August 2, 2018, the State charged Hess by Trial Information with six counts of sexual abuse in the second degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.1(1), 709.1(3), and 709.3(2). (Trial Information)(App. pp. 5-7). These

¹ The 2015 and 2017 versions of the Code are cited because Hess' offenses of conviction were alleged by trial information to have occurred within a date range: "between 2016 and 2017" (Counts III and IV), and "between January and May of 2018" (Counts V and VI). (Second Amended Trial Information)(App. pp. 27-29). The substance of these code sections was the same in both the 2015 and 2017 versions.

counts were initially spread across two case numbers, Polk County FECR317689 and FECR317870. The prosecutor filed a motion to consolidate the cases as Polk County case FECR317870, and the district court granted that request. (Motion to Close Case Number; Amended Order to Close Case Number)(App. pp. 4, 8-9). Hess was seventeen years old at the time he was charged; the offense dates in the trial information and its subsequent amendments range from 2010 until May 2018, when Hess was between nine and seventeen years old. Hess was arraigned and entered a plea of not guilty on August 6, 2018. (Arraignment Order)(App. pp. 10-12).

On August 14, 2018, Hess filed a motion requesting that his case be transferred to juvenile court. (Motion to Transfer Jurisdiction to Juvenile Court)(App. pp. 13-14).

Hess waived his right to a speedy trial on September 6, 2018. (Waiver of Speedy Trial)(App. p. 15).

On October 5, 2018, the district court heard argument on Hess' motion for transfer to juvenile court. The court

heard testimony from juvenile court officer Michael Jennings, who stated that in adult court Hess would be subject to mandatory special sentence and sex offender registry requirements which would be discretionary in juvenile court. (Waiver Hearing Tr. p. 12 L. 12–p. 13 L. 4, p. 56 L. 8–17). However, Jennings believed that because Hess had recently turned eighteen, juvenile court did not have the time or resources necessary to ensure rehabilitation. (Waiver Hearing Tr. p. 19 L. 1–6, p. 24 L. 15–24, p. 53 L. 5–14; JCO Waiver Report pp. 9–10)(Conf. App. pp. 38-39). The district court denied Hess’ motion to transfer the case to juvenile court. (Order Denying Reverse Waiver)(App. pp. 16-21).

During a plea hearing on May 10, 2019, the prosecutor explained that the trial information contained incorrect offense dates for counts III, IV, and VI, and the court granted his motion to correct those dates (although no amended trial information was filed at that time). (5/10/2019 Hearing Tr. p. 4 L. 1–3, p. 5 L. 6–7). The prosecutor then explained that counts I and II, which the State alleged occurred when Hess

was “10 or 11 years old,”² were not properly before the criminal court, citing Iowa Code section 232.45(6)(a) (which requires a defendant to be fourteen years of age or older at the time of offense to be waived from juvenile to criminal court) and State v. Duncan, 841 N.W.2d 604 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013) (which held that a defendant generally cannot be tried in criminal court for offenses committed when they were younger than fourteen). (5/10/2019 Hearing Tr. p. 5 L. 16–p. 6 L. 9). Because of this change in circumstances, Hess declined to enter a guilty plea. (5/10/2019 Hearing Tr. p. 9 L. 18–p. 10 L. 9).

On June 25, 2019, Hess filed a waiver of his right to a jury trial, and a waiver of his one-year speedy trial right. (Jury Waiver; One-Year Speedy Trial Waiver)(App. pp. 22-23).

Following several status hearings, the case came before the district court for a bench trial on August 26, 2020. Prior

² Hess’ date of birth is September 22, 2000. (5/10/2019 Hearing Tr. p. 5 L. 13–15). Because counts I and II allegedly occurred “between 2010 and 2011” with no specified month, he may have been as young as nine years old. See (Trial Information)(App. pp. 5-7).

to the hearing, the State filed an amended trial information, changing the offense date ranges for counts III and IV. (First Amended Trial Information)(App. pp. 24-26). After discussing Hess' desire to have a trial on the minutes and the procedure for such a trial, the court engaged in a colloquy confirming Hess' waiver of his right to a jury trial. (8/26/2020 Hearing p. 4 L. 2-p. 9 L. 21). The prosecutor again stated that counts I and II were not properly before the district court, and requested that the court find Hess not guilty of those counts. (8/26/2020 Hearing Tr. p. 13 L. 10-p. 14 L. 18). The prosecutor, after some discussion with defense counsel, discovered that the amended trial information filed prior to the hearing still had the incorrect offense date range for count VI, and was permitted to file another amended trial information. (8/26/2020 Hearing Tr. p. 20 L. 8-p. 21 L. 17; Second Amended Trial Information)(App. pp. 27-29).

On September 2, 2020, a verdict hearing was held. The court agreed with the State that counts I and II were not properly before the court, and so found Hess not guilty of

those counts. (Verdict Hearing p. 5 L. 1–12). The court found Hess guilty of counts III, IV, V, and VI. (Verdict Hearing p. 5 L. 13–p. 6 L. 15). The court also entered a written verdict outlining its findings of fact and of law. (Written Verdict)(App. pp. 30-37).

A presentence investigation report was filed on November 24, 2020. (PSI)(Conf. App. pp. 43-56). Prior to a sentencing hearing set for December 22, 2020, Hess filed a report authored by Dr. Luis Rosell which covered numerous topics, including background information about Hess, risk assessment scores, studies about juvenile psychology and recidivism rates, and concerns about testing performed by the Fifth Judicial District which were included in the presentence investigation report. (Defense Sentencing Exhibit A Rosell Report)(Conf. App. pp. 57-70). Hess also filed a sentencing memorandum discussing his history and risk assessment scores, studies regarding juvenile psychology and recidivism rates, and his proposed sentencing recommendation. (Sentencing Memorandum)(App. pp. 38-40). When the

prosecutor learned Hess did not intend to call Dr. Rosell to testify, he requested a continuance in order to subpoena Dr. Rosell and to call witnesses of his own. (12/22/2020 Hearing Tr. p. 11 L. 1–24). The court continued sentencing over defense counsel’s resistance. (12/22/2020 Hearing Tr. p. 15 L. 7–p. 16 L. 5, p. 18 L. 6–24).

The sentencing hearing took place on January 6 and 7, 2021, with the parties appearing via the videoconferencing software GoToMeeting. (Sentencing Hearing p. 1). The court heard testimony from Dr. Rosell and the clinical services director for the Department of Correctional Services, Fifth Judicial District, Dr. Anthony Tatman. They testified about juvenile psychology, juvenile sex offender treatment and recidivism rates, Hess’ risk assessment evaluations and scores, and the benefits and shortcomings of various risk assessment tools. (Sentencing Tr. p. 9 L. 8–p. 66 L. 22, p. 68 L. 15–p. 94 L. 25).

Following this testimony, the prosecutor argued Hess should not receive a deferred judgment, that his sentences on

counts III and IV should run concurrent to each other, that his sentences on counts V and VI run should concurrent to each other, that those concurrent sentences should run consecutive to one another for a total of fifty years, and that the sentences should be suspended with Hess placed on probation for five years. (Sentencing Tr. p. 96 L. 15–p. 97 L. 16, p. 99 L. 20–p. 100 L. 16). The prosecutor also stated that a lifetime special sentence and lifetime sex offender registry requirement were not punishment, and were required as a result of Hess’ convictions. (Sentencing Tr. p. 97 L. 17–p. 98 L. 20). Defense counsel argued Hess should receive a deferred judgment, and that the court should not impose the special sentence or require Hess to register as a sex offender; counsel argued imposing those consequences would violate the equal protection and cruel and unusual punishment clauses of the United States and Iowa Constitutions. (Sentencing Tr. p. 110 L. 22–23, p. 113 L. 8–17, p. 114 L. 9–p. 118 L. 3).

Following these arguments, the court heard from Hess and from the mother of one of the victims, then recessed until

the following day. (Sentencing Tr. p. 120 L. 6–p. 126 L. 14). When the matter resumed, the court heard further argument from defense counsel that requiring Hess to register as a sex offender would raise constitutional problems, and the State responded. (Sentencing Hearing p. 127 L. 12–p. 133 L. 6, p. 135 L. 11–p. 139 L. 5).

The court denied Hess’ request for deferred judgment, ran the sentences on all counts concurrent to one another for a total of twenty-five years, suspended the prison sentence, and placed Hess on probation for five years. (Sentencing Tr. p. 140 L. 14–24, p. 141 L. 22–p. 142 L. 13). The court rejected Hess’ equal protection and cruel and unusual punishment arguments. (Sentencing Tr. p. 144 L. 10–p. 147 L. 2). The court ordered Hess to register as a sex offender. (Sentencing Tr. p. 148 L. 6–10). The court imposed the lifetime special sentence under Iowa Code section 903B.1. (Sentencing Tr. p. 150 L. 7–10). The court subsequently filed a written sentencing order outlining these requirements. (Sentencing Order)(App. pp. 41-47).

Hess filed a timely notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal) (App. pp. 48-49).

Facts

Juvenile female M.F. reported inappropriate contact with Hess, including kissing and contact between his penis and her mouth. (Minutes p. 13)(Conf. App. p. 16). Officers learned that there may also have been inappropriate contact between Hess and his two half-sisters, C.H. and A.H. (Minutes p. 13) (Conf. App. p. 16).

C.H. and A.H. were interviewed at the Blank Children's STAR Center. (Minutes p. 19)(App. p. 22). C.H. described a single time when Hess put his penis in her mouth. (Minutes p. 19)(Conf. App. p. 22). A.H. described incidents which had occurred several years prior when Hess had put his hand under her shirt and down her pants; she said Hess had touched her breast skin to skin on one occasion, and that when he put his hand in her pants he only touched her thigh. (Minutes p. 19)(Conf. App. p. 22).

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