IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 21-0079

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

CAMERON JAMES HESS,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY  
THE HON. SARAH E. CRANE, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**LOUIS S. SLOVEN**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
[Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov)

JOHN P. SARCONI  
Polk County Attorney

MIKE SALVNER  
Assistant Polk County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. **The sentencing court did not have discretion over whether to suspend the lifetime special sentence.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

Error was not preserved. Hess’s counsel did not ask the court to exercise discretion over this part of the sentence, and he referred to “lifetime parole” as another one of the “adverse consequences” of any “formal adjudication.” *See* Sent.Tr. 111:20–25. But this challenge may be raised for the first time on appeal. *See, e.g., State v. Ayers*, 590 N.W.2d 25, 27 (Iowa 1999) (citing *State v. Wilson*, 294 N.W.2d 824, 825 (Iowa 1980)).

#### **Standard of Review**

The scope of sentencing discretion is defined by statutes that vest that discretion in a sentencing court. Review of an implied ruling on the scope of that discretion is for correction of errors at law. *See, e.g., State v. Kramer*, 773 N.W.2d 897, 898 (Iowa Ct. App. 2009).

#### **Merits**

Some sentences are mandatory, leaving no room for exercise of sentencing discretion. But when sentencing a juvenile offender for anything other than a Class A felony offense, a sentencing court has discretion to “suspend the sentence in whole or in part,” and it may

do so “notwithstanding section 907.3 or any other provision of law prescribing a mandatory minimum sentence for the offense.” *See* Iowa Code § 901.5(13). Hess argues that the lifetime special sentence of parole is a part of the sentence and may be suspended, and that the sentencing court erred in not recognizing/exercising that discretion. But it does not “prescrib[e] a mandatory minimum sentence.”

A lifetime special sentence under section 903B.1 is punishment that is imposed in addition to the sentence otherwise authorized by section 902.9. *See State v. Lathrop*, 781 N.W.2d 288, 295–97 (Iowa 2010). But it is not clear that section 901.5(13) applies to sentences authorized by section 903B.1, which is a special sentencing provision that is separate and distinct from the ordinary punishment provided in section 902.9(1)(b). *See* Def’s Br. at 34–36. A similar assertion was rejected in *State v. Peterson*, 327 N.W.2d 735, 736–37 (Iowa 1982)—the court rejected the argument the plain language of section 901.5(2) authorized imposition of a fine-only sentence in a forcible felony case, because “section 901.5 is only a general or summary statute providing a procedure or framework for pronouncing judgment and sentence.” *See id.* General sentencing provisions of section 901.5 must be read in conjunction with specific sentencing provisions of chapter 902 and

section 903.7 to determine what sentences are authorized. *See id.*; *cf. State v. Nail*, 743 N.W.2d 535, 541 (Iowa 2007) (sentencing statutes must be read *in pari materia*). In other words, section 901.5 is about the general process for imposing sentences from among options that are expressly authorized by other sections of the Iowa Code.

Section 901.5(13) authorized the court to suspend a sentence that it would impose under section 902.9(1)(b), even if precluded by section 907.3 or some other mandatory minimum sentence statute. But what about *special* sentences, imposed under section 903B.1? Section 903B.1 is different in kind. While it is a mandatory sentence, it is not a mandatory minimum sentence. *Cf. State v. Propps*, 897 N.W.2d 91, 101 (Iowa 2017) (mandatory incarceration with immediate parole eligibility is not a mandatory minimum sentence under *Lyle*). There is no provision in the Iowa Code that specifically authorizes the suspension of any special sentence of parole. That is likely because it would undermine the objectives of chapter 903B if a special sentence of supervision could be suspended, and replaced with a different kind of supervision on probation. If the legislature wanted to create a new type of sentence—a suspended parole—it would say so, somewhere in the Iowa Code. But no provision authorizing such a sentence exists.

Instead, section 903B.1 states that a person “shall” be sentenced to a lifetime special sentence, and “shall . . . begin the sentence under supervision as if on parole or work release.” *See* Iowa Code § 903B.1. It removes the supervision of the matter from the court and creates a parole track for the offender. Creating a new, unauthorized option of suspended parole would replace those instances of “shall” with “may,” and it would frustrate legislative intent by allowing a sentencing court to interpose itself between already-sentenced offenders and the Board of Parole. Generally, sentencing courts should not attempt to exercise functions that are expressly committed to the parole board, by statute. *See State v. Remmers*, 259 N.W.2d 779, 784 (Iowa 1977).

Reading the term “sentence” in section 901.5(13) to exclude a “special sentence” under section 903B.1 is also more consistent with the legislative intent of section 901.5(13). To assess legislative intent, courts look beyond language—they also consider “the objects sought to be accomplished, the purpose served, the underlying policies, the remedies, and the consequences of the various interpretations.” *See Iowa Comprehensive Petroleum Underground Storage Tank Fund Bd. v. Mobil Oil Corp.*, 606 N.W.2d 359, 364 (Iowa 2000). Here, that means starting by recognizing that section 901.5(13) was enacted to

authorize sentencing procedures for juveniles that comported with *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 81 (2010) and *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 477 (2012), which required that sentencing courts must have some amount of discretion in sentencing a juvenile offender to certain sentences *of incarceration* without the possibility of parole. To avoid that specific constitutional infirmity, the legislature gave Iowa courts authority “to suspend the sentence in whole or in part”—that is, to suspend an otherwise mandatory sentence *of incarceration*, in whole or in part. This is a situation where a term must be implied, out of necessity, to reconcile statutes with one another and with the legislature’s intent and objectives. *See State v. Conner*, 292 N.W.2d 682, 686 (Iowa 1980). Section 901.5(13) was only aimed at addressing mandatory sentences of incarceration—not special sentences of parole, which do not violate *Miller* (or even *Lyle*). *See State v. Graham*, 897 N.W.2d 476, 490–91 (Iowa 2017); *Propps*, 897 N.W.2d at 97–104.

Hess’s reading of section 901.5(13) would enable a court to suspend a special sentence of parole. That would subvert the intent behind chapter 903B: to require parole supervision of sex offenders who are not in prison. *See State v. Wade*, 757 N.W.2d 618, 628 (Iowa 2008) (“[T]he legislature simply extended Iowa’s parole supervision

scheme to require additional supervision for sex offenders consistent with the state’s objective of protecting citizens from sex crimes.”).

The special sentence under section 903B.1 is distinct, separate, and outside the scope of section 901.5(13). This parole is already like a suspended punishment. There is no statutory authorization that gives sentencing courts the discretion to suspend a suspended punishment. Section 901.5(13) was not enacted to authorize a brand new option of a suspended parole. Hess’s reading would require courts to define a new sentencing option, where suspending parole would result in a term of probation—but it is the legislature’s role to define sentences. *See, e.g., State v. Fuhrman*, 261 N.W.2d 475, 479 (Iowa 1978).

While the sentencing court may not have identified this issue, the sentence it imposed was the only one authorized by law. Section 901.5(13) does not apply to special sentences under chapter 903B because it was only intended to apply to sentences of incarceration, and because there is nothing in section 901.5(13)—or anywhere else in the Iowa Code—that authorizes a suspended sentence of parole. *See Peterson*, 327 N.W.2d at 736–37. Chapter 903B stands apart from other sentencing provisions, and its special sentences do not implicate the concerns that section 901.5(13) aims to address. It does

not “prescribe[e] a mandatory minimum sentence,” as that term is understood in the context of cases like *Miller* and *Lyle*—so its special sentences of parole fall outside the scope of section 901.5(13). Thus, section 901.5(13) did not give the sentencing court any discretion to suspend Hess’s special sentence of parole under section 903B.1.

If this court disagrees, the proper remedy is resentencing, confined to the exercise of discretion over whether to suspend that special sentence. *See Ayers*, 590 N.W.2d at 33 (vacating “only that portion of the sentence” where sentencing court failed to exercise its discretion, and limiting scope of resentencing to match); *State v. Lee*, 561 N.W.2d 353, 354 (Iowa 1999) (“[R]esentencing should be limited only to the issue of the fine since defendant has not challenged the imposition of a term of incarceration.”); *Kramer*, 773 N.W.2d at 901.

- II. The sentencing court was correct that a sex-offender registration requirement is not part of the “sentence” and is not “punishment” for a juvenile sex offender in criminal court. This consequence of conviction was not within the scope of section 901.5(13), and it could not amount to cruel and unusual punishment.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

The sentencing court rejected Hess’s claim that the sex-offender registration requirement was punishment. *See Sent.Tr.* 129:25–130:3;



Sent.Tr. 135:23–136:18; Sent.Tr. 145:10–147:2. That ruling preserved error. *Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012).

### **Standard of Review**

A cruel-and-unusual-punishment challenge asserts a violation of constitutional rights. Review is de novo. *See State v. Seering*, 701 N.W.2d 655, 661 (Iowa 2005). The claim about section 901.5(13) is about statutory interpretation. Review of that implied ruling is for correction of errors at law. *See, e.g., Kramer*, 773 N.W.2d at 898.

### **Merits**

The State will address prudential concerns, then the merits.

#### **A. This challenge is ripe because Hess is already subject to registration requirements.**

Sometimes, challenges to a sentence are not ripe because the defendant has not yet started serving the sentence. *See, e.g., State v. Tripp*, 776 N.W.2d 855, 858–59 (Iowa 2010). Similarly, a challenge to a sex-offender registration requirement is not yet ripe if the offender has not yet been required to register (which occurs when an offender is sentenced to prison, because they are only required to register upon release from incarceration). *See, e.g., State v. Murray*, No. 17–1770, 2018 WL 4361053, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 12, 2018); *State v. Cox*, No. 16–0102, 2017 WL 4317289, at \*6 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 27, 2017).

Here, Hess was sentenced to probation, so he is already subject to the registration requirement. *See* Iowa Code § 692A.103(1)(a); *accord* Sent.Tr. 148:3–150:6. As such, this challenge is already ripe.

Hess is even subject to the registration requirement during the pendency of this appeal. *See generally Maxwell v. Iowa Dep’t of Public Safety*, 903 N.W.2d 179 (Iowa 2017). “No provision delays registration pending an appeal of the sex-offense conviction.” *See id.* at 186. Hess is already required to register, so his challenge is ripe.

**B. The registration requirement is not part of the “sentence for the offense” under section 901.5(13).**

Hess correctly identifies *State v. Richardson* as the leading case that construes section 901.5(13). *See* Def’s Br. at 48–52 (discussing *State v. Richardson*, 890 N.W.2d 609 (Iowa 2018)). But *Richardson* forecloses his claim that the sex-offender registration requirement is part of the “sentence for the offense” that a court may suspend under section 901.5(13). *Richardson* held a mandatory restitution award for causing a victim’s death was not part of “the sentence” and cannot be suspended under section 901.5(13)—even though the restitution award was admittedly “partly punitive.” *See Richardson*, 890 N.W.2d at 617. *Richardson* analyzed the text and structure of section 901.5 and other relevant statutes. Here, that kind of analysis forecloses Hess’s claim.

First, the text of section 901.5(13) suggests that it applies to the kinds of punishments that a sentencing court can defer or suspend in some circumstances but must impose in others, because of provisions like section 907.3. *See Richardson*, 890 N.W.2d at 616. That suggested that restitution awards were not within the scope of section 901.5(13), because “the authority to defer judgment or sentence does not include the authority to defer restitution”—and restitution “is mandatory even when the foregoing sentencing options are exercised.” *See id.* (citing *State v. Kluesner*, 389 N.W.2d 370, 372–73 (Iowa 1986)). That also describes sex-offender registration requirements in criminal court. *See Iowa Code* § 692A.101(7). Authority to defer/suspend a sentence (or even to defer judgment) never enables a criminal court to defer or suspend an automatic sex-offender registration requirement. Even a stay of execution of sentence during a pending appeal does not stay a sex-offender registration requirement. *See generally Maxwell*, 903 N.W.2d 179. That is because it is not part of the “sentence” at all.

Also, sex-offender registration requirements are applicable to some offenders who were never sentenced by any Iowa court. This includes offenders who received a deferred judgment or sentence, and offenders who were “acquitted by reason of insanity.” *See Iowa Code* §

692A.101(7). It includes anyone who committed a qualifying offense in another jurisdiction—even if it was far beyond the jurisdiction of any Iowa court. *See* Iowa Code §§ 692A.102(a)(18)–(19), (b)(28)–(29), & (c)(41)–(42); Iowa Code § 692A.103(1). And it includes offenders who were convicted of specific federal crimes in federal courts. *See* Iowa Code §§ 692A.102(a)(12)–(17), (b)(20)–(27), & (c)(33)–(40). Iowa’s automatic registration requirements apply to those offenders, without any need for Iowa sentencing courts to pronounce judgment or impose a sentence. And if an offender wants a determination about whether they may be required to register, they are not “re-sentenced” through an exercise of an Iowa court’s judicial sentencing function—that is a determination made by the Department of Public Safety, as an administrative function. *See* Iowa Code §§ 692A.116, 692A.126(2). *Richardson* held restitution obligations were not part of a “sentence” under section 901.5(13) because they are imposed on offenders who are not “sentenced” at all, and because they are challenged/reviewed via avenues that do not require a “sentence” (or even a final judgment). *See Richardson*, 890 N.W.2d at 616 (citing *State v. Stessman*, 460 N.W.2d 461, 464 (Iowa 1990)). These registration requirements are even *more* detached from sentencing, so that same logic applies here.

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